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DECISION 

I. INTRODUCTION 

FINRA's Deparbnent of Market Regulation ("Market Regulation") filed the six-cause 

Complaint in this disciplinary proceeding on November 22, 2013. The First Cause of Action 

alleges that Jaime Andres Diaz ("Diaz") violated Section 1 0(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 

1934 ("Exchange Act"), Exchange Act Rule l0b-5, and FINRA Rules 2020 and 2010,1 by 

engaging in fraudulent and deceptive practices in connection with the offer, purchase, or sale of 

securities. Specifically, the Complaint alleges that Diaz's misconduct was part of a fraudulent 

scheme related to investments in two restaurant ventures and a property development business, in 

which Diaz also invested his personal funds. The Second Cause of Action alleges that Diaz 

violated FINRA Rules 2150 and 2010 by converting to his own use investment funds that he 

procured from customers as part of the fraudulent scheme. The Third Cause of Action alleges 

that Diaz violated FINRA Rule 2010 by converting the funds that a co-worker invested. 

The Fourth Cause of Action alleges that Diaz violated FINRA Rule 2010 and NASO 

Rule 3040 by participating in the private securities transactions referenced in Cause One without 

disclosing his participation to his member firm. The Fifth Cause of Action alleges that Diaz 

violated FINRA Rule 2010 by providing false information regarding his outside business 

activities to a member firm. The Sixth Cause of Action alleges that Diaz violated FINRA Rules 

8210 and 2010 by providing numerous untimely and incomplete responses to FINRA requests 

for information. Cause Six also alleges that Diaz committed a separate violation of FINRA 

Rules 8210 and 2010 by failing to respond in any manner to a subsequent request for 

information. 

1 FINRA's Rules are available at www.finra.org/rules. 
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Market Regulation served Diaz in accordance with FINRA's Code of Procedure, and 

Diaz failed to answer both the First and Second Notices of Complaint. Accordingly, on February 

19, 2014, Market Regulation filed a Motion for Entry of Default Decision ("Default Motion"), 

which is supported by the Declaration of Lora Alexander in Support of the Default Motion 

("Alexander Deel.") and six exhibits (hereafter referred to as "CX-1 - CX-6"). Diaz did not 

respond in any manner to the Default Motion. 

For the reasons set forth below, the Hearing Officer finds Diaz in default, grants Market 

Regulation's Default Motion, and deems the allegations in the attached Complaint to be 

admitted, pursuant to FINRA Rules 9215(£) and 9269(a). 

II. FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

A. Diaz's Background 

Diaz entered the securities industry in November 2000.2 Diaz was registered most 

recently with FINRA member National Securities Corporation (''National") as a general 

securities representative and, as of April 2008, a general securities principal.3 Diaz remained 

registered with FINRA in those capacities and associated with National until December 1, 2011, 

when National filed a Uniform Termination Notice for Securities Industry Registration ("Form 

U5") reporting that the firm had terminated Diaz because of"perceived violations ofFINRA and 

firm rules with respect to alleged selling away activities.',4 

B. FINRA's Jurisdiction 

FINRA has jurisdiction over this disciplinary proceeding pursuant to Article V, Section 

4(a) ofFINRA's By-Laws because (1) Market Regulation filed the Complaint on November 22, 

2 Alexander Deel. ,i 5; CX-1. 
3 Id. 

4 Id. 
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2013, which is within two years ofFINRA's termination of Diaz's registration on December 1, 

2011; and (2) Market Regulation alleged violations in the Complaint based upon conduct that 

commenced prior to the termination of Diaz's registration.5 

C. Origin of the Investigation 

Market Regulation commenced an investigation of Diaz based on a September 7, 2011 

customer complaint that alleged that Diaz defrauded an elderly customer in connection with the 

customer's investment in Diaz's investment advisorybusiness.6 The customer advised FINRA 

that Diaz failed to make required interest payments and, when he sought the return of his 

investment from Diaz, Diaz refused to return the funds. 7 

D. Diaz's Default 

On November 22, 2013, Market Regulation served Diaz with the Complaint and Notice 

of Complaint by U.S. Express Mail, and first-class registered mail, return receipt requested. 8 

Market Regulation served Diaz at the residential address recorded in the Central Registration 

Depository ("CRD") and at an alternate address in Bogota, Columbia that Diaz provided to 

FINRA staff during investigative testimony.9 Market Regulation also sent a copy of the 

Complaint and Notice of Complaint to Diaz at an email address that Diaz provided to FINRA 

staff during investigative testimony. 10 

On December 2, 2013, the United States Postal Service (''USPS") delivered the 

Complaint and Notice of Complaint to Diaz at his alternate Bogota, Columbia address by U.S. 

5 See Article V, Section 4(a), FINRA's By-Laws, available at www.finra.org/Rules (then follow ''FINRA Manual" 
hyperlink to "Corporate Organization: By-Laws"). 
6 Alexander Deel. ,i 4. 
1 Id. 
8 Alexander Deel. ,i,i 8-10. 
9 Id. 

io Id. 
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Expres_s Mail. l l As of the date of the Default Motion, the USPS had not provided proof of 

delivery of the Complaint and Notice of Complaint that Market Regulation sent to Diaz's 

alternate address by first-class registered mail and also had not returned the mailing as 

undeliverable. 12 On December 3, 2013, the USPS returned as undeliverable the Complaint and 

Notice of Complaint that Market Regulation sent to Diaz's CRD address by U.S. Express Mail. 13 

On December 31, 2013, the USPS similarly returned the mailing sent to Diaz's CRD address by 

first-class registered mail.14 Diaz's answer was due by December 20, 2013. 15 Diaz did not file 

an answer.16 

On December 23, 2013, Market Regulation served a Second Notice of Complaint and the 

Complaint on Diaz at his CRD address and alternate Bogota, Columbia address by U.S. Express 

Mail and first-class registered mail.17 Market Regulation also sent a copy of the Second Notice 

of Complaint and Complaint to Diaz's email address. 18 

On January 7, 2014, the USPS delivered the Complaint and Second Notice of Complaint 

to Diaz at his alternate Bogota, Columbia address by U.S. Express Mail.19 As of the date of the 

Default Motion, the USPS had not provided proof of delivery of the Complaint and Second 

Notice of Complaint that Market Regulation sent to Diaz's alternate address by first-class 

11 Alexander Deel. ,i 11; CX-2. 
12 Alexander Deel. ,i 14; CX-2. 
13 Alexander Deel. ,i 12; CX-2. 
14 Alexander Deel. ,i 13; CX-2. 
15 Alexander Deel. ,i 17; CX-2. 

16 Id. 

17 Alexander Deel. ,i 18; CX-3. 
18 Alexander Deel. ,i 11. 
19 Alexander Deel. ,i 21; CX-3. 
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registered mail and also had not returned the mailing as undeliverable.20 On December 26, 2013, 

the USPS returned as undeliverable the Complaint and Second Notice of Complaint that Market 

Regulation sent to Diaz's CRD address by first-class registered mail.21 On December 30, 2013, 

the USPS similarly returned the mailing that Market Regulation sent to Diaz's CRD address by 

U.S. Express Mail.22 Diaz's answer was due by January 9, 2014.23 Diaz did not file an answer.24 

The Hearing Officer finds that Diaz received constructive notice of this proceeding. 

FINRA Rule 9134(b) provides for service on a natural person at the person's residential address 

as indicated in CRD.25 Accordingly, the Hearing Officer finds that Diaz defaulted by failing to 

answer or otherwise respond to the Complaint. 

E. Causes One, Two, and Three - Fraud, Conversion, and Improper Use of Funds 

Beginning in December 2009, Diaz employed a fraudulent scheme involving the 

solicitation of four customers and one co-worker to invest in three business ventures in which 

Diaz also had invested-Nuela Restaurant (''Nuela"), a Latin-inspired restaurant in New York 

City that had not yet opened, Marca Restaurant ("Marca"), an Argentinian steakhouse and 

underground nightlife space that had not yet opened, and Nordica Development (''Nordica"), a 

property development venture for a housing project in New York and a resort community in 

Bermuda.26 

20 Alexander Deel. 122; CX-3. 
21 Alexander Deel. 119; CX-3. 
22 Alexander Deel. ,i 20; CX-3. 
23 Alexander Deel. 125. 

24 Id. 

25 See Dep 't of Enforcement v. Moore, Complaint No. 2008015105601, 2012 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 45, at *21 
(FINRA NAC July 26, 2012) (finding constructive notice of a complaint served on respondent at his last known 
residential address, as indicated in CRD, by certified mail). 
26 Complaint ("Compl.") fl 7, 9, 36, 49. 
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1. Nuela 

In late 2008, Diaz and other Nuela developers realized that they did not have sufficient 

funding to open Nuela and that the opening would be delayed.27 Diaz and his brother had 

invested $500,000 to develop and open Nuela and, in mid-2009 after receiving additional capital 

calls, invested an additional $500,000.28 In late 2009, Diaz began soliciting clients of National to 

invest in Nuela. 29 

In December 2009, Diaz solicited National customer JM to purchase an equity interest in 

Nuela without telling JM that: (1) he had received capital calls; (2) the opening of the restaurant 

had been delayed for lack of funding; and (3) JM may not receive a return on his investment and 

may lose principal.30 In reliance on Diaz's solicitation, JM liquidated securities that he held at 

National and invested the $70,000 proceeds plus an additional $130,000, for a total investment of 

$200,000, in Nuela.31 On December 23, 2009, JM wired $200,000 to Diaz's advisory company, 

Worldwide Asset Protection ("Worldwide"), but Diaz never provided JM with documents 

evidencing his $200,000 investment in Nuela. 32 

Immediately after receiving JM's wire transfer into Worldwide's bank account, Diaz 

wired $75,000 to Nuela's bank account and $125,000 to a bank account owned by AT, one of 

Diaz's close friends.33 

27 Compl. ,i 9. 
28 Compl. ,i 9. Diaz also secured an investment of$500,000 from AT. Id. 
29 Compl. ,i 10. 
3° Compl. ,i 11. 
31 Compl. ,i,i 12, 13. 
32 Compl. ,Ml 13, 16. At the time that JM wired funds to Worldwide, Worldwide's bank account balance was 
$6,717.54. Comp!. ,i 13. 
33 Comp!. ,i,i 14, 15. 
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Diaz solicited JM for a second investment. On January 15, 2010, JM sold securities held 

in his National account and transferred $50,000 to Diaz's Worldwide bank account.34 Again, 

Diaz failed to provide JM with documents to evidence his investment. 35 Diaz immediately wrote 

a check drawn from the Worldwide bank account to himself for $9,000.36 On January 20, 2010, 

Diaz wrote a second check payable to himself for $6,200.37 On January 25, 2010, Diaz wired 

$35,000 from the Worldwide bank account to VF, another of Diaz's friends who had invested in 

Nuela. 38 Diaz misrepresented to JM how his investment would be used, and JM did not 

authorize the manner in which Diaz used the funds. 39 

In February 2010, Diaz solicited National customer CW to purchase an equity interest in 

Nuela without telling CW that: (1) he had received capital calls; (2) the opening of the restaurant 

had been delayed for lack of funding; and (3) CW may not receive a return on his investment and 

may lose principal.40 Diaz solicited CW to purchase a promissory note in the amount of 

$100,000 that would pay interest periodically, and indicated that the funds would be invested in 

Nuela.41 In reliance on Diaz's solicitation, on February 16, 2010, CW borrowed $75,000 against 

the securities in his National brokerage account, wired the proceeds to his personal bank account, 

and thereafter wired a total of$100,000 to Diaz's Worldwide bank account.42 Immediately after 

receiving CW's wire transfer into Worldwide's bank account, Diaz wired $50,000 from the 

34 Compl. ,i 17. At the time, the balance in Worldwide's bank account was $137.54. Id. 
35 Comp I. ,i 20 .. 
36 Compl. ,i 18. Diaz wrote ''payment Nuela interest" in the memo line of the check. Id. 
31 Id. Again, Diaz wrote "payment Nuela interest" in the memo line of the check. Id. 
38 Compl. ,i 19. 
39 Compl. ,i,i 21, 22: 
40 Compl. ,i 23, At the time of CW's investment, CW was 79 years old. Id. 
41 Compl. ,i 24. 
42 Compl. ,i,i 25, 26. At the time, the balance in Worldwide's bank account was $262.54. Compl. ,i 26. 
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Worldwide bank account to his personal bank account.43 At the time, the balance in Diaz's 

personal bank account was $3.93.44 

Thereafter, on February 18, 2010, Diaz wrote two checks from his personal bank account 

to himself for $35,000 and $15,000, leaving a balance in his personal account of$3.93.4s Diaz 

deposited the $15,000 check into a bank account for one ofhif! businesses named Worldwide 

Wealth Management and used the money to pay expenses related to his branch o:ffice.46 Diaz 

deposited the $35,000 check into another personal bank account.47 Also on February 18, 2010, 

Diaz wrote two checks payable to himself from the Worldwide bank account, one for $5,000 and 

one for $5,i00.48 On the same day, Diaz also wired $40,000 from his Worldwide bank account 

to Nuela.49 

CW never received a promissory note from Diaz, or any other documentation to evidence 

his $100,000 investment.so CW received one $10,000 interest payment.SI CW repeatedly asked 

Diaz to return his investment, but Diaz refused.s2 In July 2010, CW sold all of the securities in 

his National brokerage account and used the proceeds to repay the $75,000 loan against the 

securities that CW had taken to invest with Diaz.s3 Diaz misrepresented to CW how his 

43 Compl. ,i 27. 
44 Id. 
45 Compl. ,i 28. 
46 Compl. ,i 29. 

41 Id. 

48 Compl. ,i 31. On the memo line for the $5,000 check, Diaz wrote ''Nuela." Id. On the memo line for the $5,100 
check, Diaz wrote "Jaime Reimbursement!" Id. 
49 Compl. ,i 30. 
5° Compl. ,i 32. 

51 Id. 

52 Id. 

53 Compl. ,i 33. 
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investment would be used, and CW did not authorize Diaz to use his investment for branch 

office expenses or for Diaz's personal use.54 

2. Nordics 

Diaz invested $70,000 in Nordica before soliciting National customers to invest.55 Diaz, 

however, had not received any financial data for Nordica, the Nordica property developers were 

having difficulty getting permits to begin construction, and Diaz had not conducted any due 

diligence on the principal investors responsible for completing the project. 56 In July 2010, Diaz 

solicited National customer JM for an investment in Nordica, but failed to tell him these facts. 57 

On July 13, 2010, JM wired $150,000 from his personal bank account to Diaz's 

Worldwide bank account. 58 Again, Diaz failed to provide JM with any documents to evidence 

his investment.59 Shortly thereafter, Diaz transferred $90,000 from the Worldwide bank account 

to his personal bank account and used the funds for his personal benefit.60 On July 16, 2010, JM 

sold securities held in his National account and, on July 20, 2010, wired the sales proceeds of 

$150,000 first to his personal bank account and then to Diaz's Worldwide bank account.61 On 

July 21, 2010, Diaz wired $100,000 from the Worldwide bank account to his friend, VF.62 On 

the same day, Diaz wrote a check drawn from the Worldwide bank account to himself for 

54 Compl. ,i,i 34, 35. 
55 Compl. ,i 36. 
56 Compl. ,i 38. 
57 Compl. ,i,i 36, 37, 38. 
58 Comp!. ,i 39. At the time, the balance in Worldwide's bank account was $1,171.68. Id. 
59 Compl. ,i 48. 
60 Compl. ,i 40. 
61 Compl. ,i,i 41, 42. 
62 Comp!. ,i 43. 
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$10,000 and deposited the check into his personal bank account. 63 Diaz used these funds to 

cover personal expenses.64 On July 23, 2010, Diaz transferred $8,000 from the Worldwide bank 

account to his personal bank account.65 On July 26, 2010, he transferred an additional $10,000 

from the Worldwide bank account to his personal bank account. 66 Diaz used these funds for 

personal expenses. 67 

Diaz did not invest JM's funds in Nordica as represented, and instead used the funds for 

purposes that JM had not authorized.68 JM requested that Diaz return his investment in Nordica, 

but Diaz refused. 69 

3. Marca 

Diaz invested $800,000 in Marca before soliciting National customers and another 

registered representative at National to invest.70 Diaz, however, had not received any financial 

data for Marca from the principal investors, h~ not conducted any due diligence on the principal 

investors responsible for completing the project, and knew that the principal investors did not 

possess the necessary permits to proceed with operating Marca. 71 In January 2011, Diaz 

solicited National registered representative CR for an investment in Marca and encouraged him 

to solicit investments from National customers. Diaz did not tell CR any negative information 

63 Compl. 1J 44. 
64 Id. 
65 Compl. ,i 45. 
66 Id. 

61 Id. 

68 Compl.11,l 46, 47, 48. 
69 Compl. ,i 48. 
7° Compl. ,i 49. 
71 Compl. ,i 51. 
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about Marca. 72 Instead, Diaz misrepresented to CR that Marca was a good investment and that 

he was an owner of Marca. 73 Diaz also falsely represented that CR' s and other customers' funds 

would be used to purchase equity interests in Marca, and he encouraged CR and his customers to 

deposit funds into two bank accounts that Diaz represented belonged to Marca. 74 Diaz did not 

tell CR that he was not authorized to make representations on Marca's behalf, did not have 

authorization to sell equity interests in Marca, did not have authority to make direct deposits into 

Marca's bank accounts, and did not possess the right to access bank accounts created for 

Marca.75 

In response to Diaz's solicitation and representations, CR transferred $50,000 from his 

personal bank account to a bank account that Diaz represented belonged to Marca. 76 Diaz did 

not provide CR with documentary evidence of his investment.77 At Diaz's request, CR contacted 

two ofhis National customers, DKB and DMB, to invest $100,000 each in Marca.78 Thereafter, 

DKB deposited $100,000 from his personal bank account into a bank account that Diaz 

identified as belonging to Marca.79 DMB sold $100,000 worth of securities from his National 

account, deposited the funds into his personal account, wrote a check payable to Marca, and 

tendered it for deposit into a bank account that Diaz identified as belonging to Marca. 80 

72 Compl. ,m 50, 51, 54. 
73 Compl. ,m 50, 51. 
74 Compl. ,m 50, 52. 
15 Compl. ,m 50, 51, 52. 
76 Compl. ,i 53. 
11 Id. 
78 Compl. ,i 54. 
79 Compl. ,i 55. 
8° Compl. ,i 56. 
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Diaz provided CR with promissory notes purportedly to document DMB's and DKB's 

investments. 81 The promissory notes provided for periodic 10 percent interest payments and 

return of principal by June 2011.82 Diaz falsely represented to CR, DMB, and DKB that, if 

Marca's fund-raising efforts reached $5 million in the first three years, investors would receive 

an additional six percent interest payment.83 As of the end of 2011, Marca still had not opened 

for business, and Diaz did not pay the first interest payment due under the promissory notes. 84 

CR requested that Diaz return his, DKB's and DMB's investments.85 Diaz failed to return the 

funds, and CR filed a complaint with the New Y~rk Office of the Attorney General.86 Diaz 

thereafter returned DKB's and DMB's money, but never returned CR's money.87 

4. Fraud 

A finding of violation of Section 1 0(b) of the Exchange Act and Exchange Act Rule 1 0b-5 

requires a showing that respondent: (1) made material misrepresentations or omissions; (2) in 

connection with the purchase or sale of a security; and (3) acted with sci enter. 88 FINRA Rule 

2020 provides that no member shall effect any transactions, or induce the purchase or sale of any 

security, by means of any manipulative, deceptive or fraudulent device. FINRA Rule 2020 and 

81 Compl. ,rn 57, 58. 
82 Compl. ,i 58. 

83 Id. 

84 Compl. ,i 60. 
85 Compl. ,i 6 I. 
86 Compl. ,rn 61, 62. 

87 Id. 

88 In addition, violations of Section 1 0(b) of the Exchange Act and Exchange Act Rule 1 0b-5 must involve the use of 
any means or instrumentalities of transportation or communication in interstate commerce, or the mails, or any 
facility of any national securities exchange. See, SEC v. Hasho, 784 F. Supp. 1059, 1106 (S.D.N.Y. 1992). In this 
case, the requirement of interstate commerce is satisfied. Diaz falsely represented in person, via telephone 
communication, and via electronic mail, that he would use investors' funds to invest in various business ventures 
when, in fact, he converted the funds to his own use. Alexander Deel. ,i 29. In addition, three of the customers sold 
securities held in their National accounts and provided the proceeds, through wire transfer or check sent via U.S. 
mail, to Diaz. Id. One customer transferred funds via bank journal. Id. 
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Exchange Act Rule 1 0b-5 are designed to ensure that sales representatives fulfill their obligation 

to their customers to be accurate when making statements about securities and soliciting 

investments. 89 The allegations in the Complaint are sufficient to show that Diaz misrepresented 

and omitted material facts in connection with soliciting the purchases and sales of securities. 

First, Diaz misrepresented and omitted material facts. "A fact is material if there is a 

substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would have considered the fact important in 

making an investment decision, and disclosure of the omitted fact would have significantly 

altered the total mix of information available."90 Diaz misrepresented to four customers and one 

co-worker that he would purchase securities with their funds when, in fact, he never intended to 

do so.91 Instead, he converted the funds to his own use and benefit, made monetary payments to 

friends, and covered office expenses. 92 He also concealed from investors negative financial 

information, the risk of loss of principal, known delays in the ventures' business plans, his own 

failures to conduct due diligence, and his lack of authority to sell some of the products 

involved.93 Omissions and misrepresentations of this nature have consistently been found to be 

material.94 

89 Michael R. Euripides, 1997 NASO Discip. LEXIS 45 (NASO NAC July 28, 1997). ''The antifraud provisions 
'give rise to a duty to disclose any information necessary to make an individual's voluntary statements not 
misleading."' Donner Corp., Int'/, Exchange Act Release No. 55313, 2007 SEC LEXIS 334, at *32 (Feb. 20, 2007) 
(citing SEC v. Drujfner, 353 F. Supp. 2d 141, 148 (D. Mass. 2005)); see also SEC v. Fehn, 97 F.3d 1276, 1290 n.12 
(9th Cir. 1996) (stating that the federal securities laws impose a duty to disclose material facts that are necessary to 
make disclosed statements, whether mandatory or volunteered, not misleading). 
90 Donner Corp., 2007 SEC LEXIS 334, at *29; Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 231-32 (1988); In re Time 
Warner, Inc. Securities Litigation, 9 F.3d 259 (2d Cir. 1993). 
91 Anderson Deel. ,i 30. 

92 Id. 

93 Compl. ml 11, 21, 23, 38, 46, 47, 50, 51, 59. 
94 See Charles E. French, 52 S.E.C. 858, 863 n.19 (1996) (holding that one cannot successfully challenge the 
materiality of information about the financial condition, solvency, and profitability of the entity responsible for the 
success or failure of an enterprise); Dep 't of Enforcement v. Cipriano, Complaint No. C07050029, 2007 NASO 
Discip. LEXIS 23, at *27-29 (NASO NAC July 26, 2007) (finding that information not disclosed, including fact that 
issuer had never made a profit, was in need of additional capital to continue its operations, and its liabilities 
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Second, Diaz misrepresented and omitted facts in connection with purchases or sales of 

securities. Diaz's stated purpose in obtaining money from four customers and one co-worker 

was to purchase securities that he alternately described as investments, equity interests, 

promissory notes, and fractional interests in business enterprises.95 Furthermore, Diaz convinced 

customers JM and CW to sell securities or borrow against securities (that CW ultimately sold) 

held in their National accounts.96 The fact that Diaz never intended to deliver securities in 

exchange for the funds or that the securities were non-existent does not absolve him of liability. 97 

Third, the Complaint alleges facts sufficient to show that Diaz acted with scienter. 

Scienter is defined as the "intent to deceive, manipulate or defraud."98 Scienter may be 

established by a showing of recklessness that involves an "extreme departure from the standards 

of ordinary care, ... which presents a danger of misleading buyers or sellers that is either known 

substantially exceeded its tangible assets, was material ); Dep 't of Enforcement v. Tretiak, Complaint Nos. 
C02990042, C02980085, 2001 NASD Discip. LEXIS 1, at *38 (NASD NAC Jan. 23, 2001) (finding material 
information regarding the issuer's investment in and development of property, assumption of debt, and probable 
future development), aff'd 56 S.E.C. 209 (2003); Dep't of Enforcement v. Becerril, No. 2009018944001, 2012 
FINRA Discip. LEXIS 4, at *19 (OHO Feb. 23, 2012) (finding that "it is plainly material that Respondent did not 
invest [the customer's] funds in a mutual fund as promised but instead converted the funds to his own use."). 
95 Comp!. ,Ml 11, 24, 37, 50, 57. The promissory notes that Diaz provided to DMB and DKB fall within the 
definition of"security" in Section 2(a)(l) of the Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C. § 77b(a)(l), and Section 3(a)(10) 
of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78c(a)(10), as "any note," and they are not excluded from that definition under the 
Supreme Court's "family resemblance" test set forth in Reves v. Ernst & Young, 494 U.S. 56, 63-65 (1990). See 
II.F, infra. Additionally, the other interests in business enterprises that Diaz offered are securities under the three
part test established by the Supreme Court in SEC v. W.J. Howey Co., 328 U.S. 293, 298-99 (1946). In Howey, the 
Court held that an investment constitutes an investment contract security when a person invests his or her money in 
a common enterprise and is led to expect profits from the efforts of others. Id. The investments that Diaz offered 
met these criteria. 
96 Comp!. ,m 12, 17, 25, 26, 33. 
91 See SEC v. Zandford, 535 U.S. 813,819 (June 3, 2002) (stating that the "in connection with" requirement of 
Section 1 O(b) would be met for "a broker who accepts payment for securities that he never intends to deliver''); SEC 
v. Smart, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 61134, at *43-44 (D. Utah June 8, 2011) (citing Zandford and stating "the 'in 
connection with' requirement is met regardless of whether or not Defendants invested the money in securities ... All 
that is required is that an investor would reasonably believe that they are investing in securities"), aff'd, 2012 U.S. 
App. LEXIS 8623 (10th Cir. Utah, Apr. 27, 2012); First National Bank of Chicago v. Shearson Lehman Brothers, 
Inc., 1988 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 17186, at *13 (N.D. Ill. 1989) ("Common sense also dictates the conclusion that 
Shearson should not escape liability under the securities laws ... because the securities that it agreed to hold were 
wholly non-existent rather than simply worthless."). 
98 Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 193 (1976). 
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to the [actor] or is so obvious that the actor must have been aware ofit."99 Diaz misrepresented 

and omitted material facts to four customers and one co-worker to convince them to give him 

money to invest in fictitious securities. For some of the ventures, he had not conducted a due 

diligence investigation into the funding of the underlying business enterprise. For others, he was 

aware of significant funding shortfalls that he concealed from investors. Additionally, when 

Diaz solicited the investments, he intended to ( and ultimately did) convert some of the funds to 

his own use. Given the purposeful nature of Diaz's misrepresentations and omissions, the efforts 

he made to conceal material facts, and his outright theft of investor money, Diaz must have been 

aware that his actions presented a danger of misleading the investors. 100 Diaz acted with 

scienter. 

Diaz's misrepresentations were also willful. The term ''willful" need not connote that 

Diaz intended to violate FINRA rules and federal statutes.101 "A willful violation under the 

federal securities laws simply means 'that the person charged with the duty knows what he is 

doing. "'102 The finding that Diaz acted with scienter supports a finding that his violations were 

willful. 

S. Improper Use and Conversion of Customer and Co-Worker Funds 

FINRA Rule 2150(a) states that persons associated with FINRA members shall not make 

improper use of a customer's funds or securities. FINRA's Sanction Guidelines state that 

"conversion generally is an intentional and unauthorized taking of and/or exercise of ownership 

99 The Rockies Fund, Inc. v. SEC, 428 F .3d 1088, 1093 (D.C. Cir. 2005) ( citing Steadman v. SEC, 967 F .2d 636, 
641-42 (D.C. Cir. 1992) (quoting Sundstrand Corp. v. Sun Chemical Corp., 553 F.2d 1033, 1044-45 (7th Cir. 
1977))). 
100 See Kenneth R. Ward, 56 S.E.C. 236, 259-60 (2003) (finding scienter established where representative was aware 
of material information and failed to disclose it). 
101 See Arthur Lipper Corp. v. SEC, 547 F.2d 171, 180 (2d Cir. 1976). 
102 Robert D. Tucker, Exchange Act Release No. 68210, 2012 SEC LEXIS 3496, at *41 (Nov. 9, 2012) (citing 
Wonsover v. SEC, 205 F.3d 408. 414 (D.C. Cir 2000)). 
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over property by one who neither owns the property nor is entitled to possess it. " 103 The 

allegations in the Complaint are sufficient to show that Diaz converted funds that he received 

from four customers and one colleague. Indeed, Diaz fraudulently solicited and received 

$900,000 from customers and a colleague, and kept the vast majority for his own use. 104 Diaz 

used the funds for personal and business expenses, to pay off friends, and to pad his own bank 

accounts. Diaz had no right to these funds, and he lied to get them. Then he converted the funds 

to his own use. 

Accordingly, the Hearing Officer concludes that Diaz violated Section lO(b) of the 

Exchange Act, Exchange Act Rule lOb-5, and FINRA Rules 2150, 2020 and 2010, 105 as alleged 

in the First, Second, and Third Causes of the Complaint. 

F. Causes Four and Five - Private Securities Transactions and Providing False 
Information to a Member Firm 

NASO Rule 3040 restricts an associated person from participating in any manner in a 

private securities transaction unless, prior to participating, he provided written notice to his 

member firm, describing in detail the proposed transaction, his proposed role in the transaction, 

and whether he will receive compensation, and if the firm approves the person's participation in 

the transaction. In January 2011, Diaz sold two promissory notes to customers DKB and 

103 FINRA Sanction Guidelines ("Guidelines") at 36, n. 2 (2013), available at 
http://www.finra.org/web/groups/industry/@ip/@enf/@sg/documents/industry/p011038.pdf. 
104 Anderson Deel. 132. 
105 Violations of other FINRA rules, such as Rules 2150 and 2020, constitute conduct inconsistent with just and 
equitable principles of trade and violations ofFINRA Rule 2010. Stephen J. Gluckman, 54 S.E.C. 175, 185 (1999); 
Dep 't of Enforcement v. Cap West Securities, Inc., Complaint No. 2007010158001, 2013 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 4, at 
*25, n. 21 (FINRA NAC Feb. 25, 2013). 
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DMB. 106 Diaz received compensation from his sales of the notes by virtue of his use of the 

proceeds of their investments.107 

The promissory notes were securities under the Supreme Court's "family resemblance" 

test set forth in Reves v. Ernst & Young. 108 The four factors identified by the Court in Reves 

were: (1) the motivations of the seller and buyer of the note-"[i]fthe seller's purpose is to raise 

money for the general use of a business enterprise or to finance substantial investments and the 

buyer is interested primarily in the profit the note is expected to generate, the instrument is likely 

to be a 'security"'; (2) the plan of distribution - notes that are "offered and sold to a broad 

segment of the public" are likely to be "securities"; (3) the reasonable expectations of the 

investing public - if notes are characterized as "investments" they are likely to be "securities"; 

and ( 4) ''whether some factor such as the existence of another regulatory scheme significantly 

reduces the risk of the instrument, thereby rendering application of the Securities Acts 

unnecessary."109 Here, Diaz offered the promissory notes, and DMB and DKB bought the notes, 

as investments in the business enterprise of opening and operating restaurant Marca. DMB and 

DKB expected a return of their principal, periodic ten percent interest payments, and a potential 

six percent bonus. Diaz offered the investment to his colleague at National, CR, and encouraged 

him to offer it widely to his own clients. Both CR and his customers reasonably expected these 

instruments to be investments, and there is no other regulatory scheme that would provide an 

adequate substitute for the protection of the federal securities laws applicable to these 

instruments. 110 The Marca promissory notes that Diaz sold were securities. 

106 Compl. fl 56, 57, 58, 75. 
107 DKB and DMB deposited their investments into a bank account that Diaz identified to them. Compl. ,Mi 55, 56. 
108 Reves, 494 U.S. at 63-65. 
109 Id. at 66-69. 
110 See Reves, 494 U.S. at 71-72. 
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Diaz's sales of Marca promissory notes to DMB and DKB occurred outside the regular 

course and scope of his association with National, and the firm did not participate in and was 

unaware of the sales. 111 Diaz did not provide National with prior written notification of these 

sales, describe the proposed transactions to National, describe his proposed role in the sales, nor 

obtain prior authorization from the firm before making the sales. 112 

Diaz not only failed to provide advance notice to National of his sales of Marca 

promissory notes, he also affirmatively misrepresented his conduct to the firm. Diaz 

misrepresented on an outside business disclosure form maintained in CRD that he was involved 

in the following outside businesses: Worldwide, Worldwide Wealth Management, and Nuela 113 

Diaz did not identify Marca or Nordica as outside business activities, and inaccurately identified 

Nuela as non-investment-related, notwithstanding that he solicited CW's and JM's investments 

in Nuela. u 4 On March 16, 2011, Diaz falsely represented on National's compliance 

questionnaire (in response to Question 6.1) that his outside business disclosure form in CRD was 

correct.1I5 Diaz also falsely answered "no" on the firm's questionnaire when asked whether he 

had raised capital, issued debt, made referrals for financial arrangements, or loaned or invested 

personally or invested funds on behalf of others in an identified outside business activity 

(Nuela). 116 

Diaz falsely represented in response to Question IO of the same questionnaire that he had 

not received verbal or written complaints when he had received complaints from CW and JM 

111 Anderson Deel. 139. 
112 Id. 
113 Compl. , 82. 

114 Id. 
115 Anderson Deel. 145; Compl. ml 83, 84. 
116 Anderson Deel. , 44; Compl. , 85. 
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requesting the return of their investments. 117 Diaz also falsely represented to National (in 

response to Questions 5, 12, and 47) that he had not raised capital for any group or entity other 

than through National, that customers of National would not be investors in his outside business, 

and that he had not been involved in the purchase or sale of a security other than through 

National. 118 Finally, Diaz falsely represented to National (in response to Question 55) that he 

had not recommended securities to clients older than the age of 60 years when, in fact, he 

recommended that CW invest in Nuela when CW was 79 years old.119 

Accordingly, the Hearing Officer concludes that Diaz violated NASO Rule 3040 and 

FINRA Rule 2010,120 as alleged in the Fourth and Fifth Causes of the Complaint. 

G. Cause Six - Failure to Fully and Timely Respond and Complete Failure to 
Respond to Requests for Information 

The Complaint alleges that Diaz provided untimely and incomplete responses to a series 

ofFINRA requests for information pursuant to FINRA Rule 8210 and, as a separate violation, 

that he failed to respond in any manner to a subsequent FINRA Rule 8210 request for 

information. 

Rule 8210(a) authorizes FINRA staff, for purposes of an investigation, examination, or 

proceeding, to require a person subject to FINRA's jurisdiction to provide documents and 

information with respect to any matter involved in an investigation, examination, or proceeding. 

FINRA Rule 8210( d) provides that notice shall be deemed received by a registered person by 

mailing or otherwise transmitting it to the last known residential address of the person as 

reflected in CRD. Rule 8210(d) further provides that, ifFINRA staff is aware that a person is 

117 Comp!. ,i 86. 
118 Anderson Deel. ,i 44; Comp!. ,i,i 87, 88, 90. 
119 Anderson Deel. ,i 44; Comp!. ,i 89. 
120 A violation of another FINRA rule, such as NASO Rule 3040, constitutes conduct inconsistent with just and 
equitable principles of trade and a violation ofFINRA Rule 2010. Gluckman, 54 S.E.C. at 185. 
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represented by counsel regarding an investigation, examination, or proceeding that is the subject 

of a request, then notice shall be served on counsel by mailing or otherwise transmitting to 

counsel. 

1. Untimely Responses to Rule 8210 Requests 

On October 14, 2011, FINRA's Office of Fraud Detection and Market Intelligence 

("OFDMf') sent Diaz a written request for information and documents related to OFDMI's 

investigation of this matter and directed that he respond by October 21, 2011. 121 OFDMI sent 

the request by certified and first-class mail to Diaz's former residential address as indicated in 

CRD. 122 The USPS returned the certified mailing to OFDMI. 123 On October 25, 2011, OFDMI 

sent Diaz a follow-up letter indicating that FINRA had not received a response to the October 14 

request. 124 OFDMI included a copy of the October 14, 2011 letter (which had been sent to an old 

address) and sent the October 25, 2011 letter to Diaz's then-current residential address as 

indicated in CRD by certified and first-class mail. 125 OFDMI also sent a copy of the October 25 

mailing by email to Diaz's compliance officer at National. 126 

On October 26, 2011, OFDMI received an email from an attorney who indicated that he 

represented Diaz. 127 Diaz's attorney requested and was granted an extension of time to respond 

to the request until November 3, 2011. 128 On November 3, 2011, Diaz's attorney requested and 

121 Anderson Deel. ,i 49; Compl. ,i 94; CX-4. 
122 Compl. ,i 94; CX-1; CX-4. The complaint alleges that OFDMI sent the letter to Diaz's then-current CRD 
address, but the address to which OFDMI addressed the October 14, 2011, letter was Diaz's former CRD address. 
123 Compl. ,i 94. 
124 Compl. ,i 95; CX-4. 
125 Compl. ,i 95; CX-1; CX-4. 

126 Id. 

127 Compl. ,i 96. 

12s /d. 
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was granted a second extension until November 10, 2011. 129 Diaz did not respond by November 

10, and on November 16, 2011, Diaz's attorney requested a third extension until November 18, 

2011. 130 On November 18, 2011, Diaz's attorney submitted an incomplete response that failed to 

include all of Diaz's personal bank account statements for the period of July 2007 through 

October 2011. 131 OFDMI contacted Diaz's attorney on December 8, 2011, and requested the 

missing documents. 132 Having received no response, OFDMI reiterated the request in a second 

call to Diaz's attorney on March 16, 2012.133 On March 27, 2012, Diaz's attorney indicated to 

OFDMI that he would produce the missing bank account statements. 134 He did not, however, 

produce the statements. 135 

On April 3, 2012, OFDMI sent Diaz's attorney a written request that included a request 

for a list of documents and information that had not been produced in Diaz's November 18,2011 

response.136 The April 3, 2012 letter warned that Diaz could be barred from the securities 

industry ifhe failed to respond. 137 On April 11 and 16, 2012, OFDMI contacted Diaz's attorney 

to request the missing documents. 138 On April 16, 2012, Diaz, through his counsel, provided a 

second incomplete response that failed to include all bank statements from July 2009 through 

October 2011 for accounts in which Diaz held a financial interest. 139 On April 27 and May 24, 

129 Comp!. ,r 97. 
130 Compl. ,r 98. 
131 Comp!. ,i 99. 
132 Compl. ,i 100. 
133 Compl. ,r 101. 

134 Id. 

13S Id. 

136 Compl. ,r 102; CX-4. 

131 CX-4. 

138 Compl. ,i,i 103, 104. 
139 Compl. ,r 105. 
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2012, OFDMI requested that Diaz's attorney produce the missing bank statements, but received 

no response.140 

On June 1, 2012, OFDMI sent Diaz's counsel a third written request that listed the 

documents and information that Diaz failed to produce in his November 18, 2011, and April 16, 

2012, responses. 141 OFDMI sent the June 1, 2012 letter by certified and first-class mail and 

provided a copy by email.142 

More than two months later, on September 12, 2012, OFDMI still had not received a 

response. 143 On that day, Market Regulation sent Diaz a Notice of Suspension pursuant to Rule 

9554, in which Market Regulation outlined Diaz's prior failures to respond fully to Rule 8210 

requests for information and documents, indicated that he could request a hearing, and stated that 

he would be suspended on October 8, 2012, ifhe failed to respond fully to the outstanding 

requests. 144 Market Regulation sent the Notice of Suspension to Diaz's CRD address by 

overnight delivery and first-class mail, and provided a copy to his attorney. 145 On September 24, 

2012, Diaz's attorney submitted a third incomplete response that failed to include all of the bank 

account statements requested in the initial request pursuant to Rule 8210.146 Market Regulation 

advised Diaz's attorney, during a telephone call on October 2, 2012, that Diaz's September 24, 

2012 response was incomplete and identified the specific documents and information that 

remained missing. 147 

14° Compl. ,i,i 105, 106. 
141 Compl. ,i 107; CX-4. 

142 CX-4. 

143 Compl. ,i 108. 
144 Compl. ,i 109; CX-5. 
145 Compl. ,i 108; CX-5. 
146 Compl. ,i 110. 
147 Compl. ,i 111. 
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On October 9, 2012, Market Regulation notified Diaz, by overnight delivery and first

class mail, that he was suspended from associating with any member firm in any manner for his 

failure to respond fully to FINRA's Rule 8210 information requests. 148 The October 9, 2012 

letter indicated that Diaz's continuing failure to provide the requested information would result 

in a bar from the securities industry on December 12, 2012. 149 Market Regulation sent the 

October 9 suspension letter to Diaz's CRD address and provided a copy to his attorney. 150 On 

December 10, 2012, two days before the suspension of Diaz was scheduled to convert into a bar, 

and more than one year after OFDMI initially requested information and documents from Diaz, 

Diaz's attorney submitted the missing documentation and information originally requested on 

October 25, 2011. 151 

Accordingly, the Hearing Officer concludes that Diaz violated FINRA Rules 8210 and 

2010 by failing, between October 2011 and December 2012, to respond timely and fully to 

repeated requests for information, as alleged in the Sixth Cause of the Complaint. Market 

Regulation properly served Diaz with multiple requests for information and documents and Diaz, 

through counsel, failed for more than one full year to respond fully to the requests. By doing so, 

Diaz violated FINRA Rule 8210. 152 

148 CX-6. 

149 Compl. ,i 112; CX-6. 

ISO Id. 

151 Compl. ,i 112. 
152 A violation of FINRA Rule 8210 constitutes conduct inconsistent with just and equitable principles of trade and 
therefore also violates FINRA Rule 2010. See CMG Inst. Trading, LLC, Exchange Act Release No. 59325, 2009 
SEC LEXIS 215, at *30 (Jan. 30, 2009). 
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2. Failure to Respond in any Manner 

On May 7, 2013, Market Regulation took Diaz's on-the-record testimony and asked him 

about his involvement with Nuela, Nordica, and Marca. 153 Diaz testified that he had several 

million dollars in various bank accounts and that he held the majority of his money in a bank 

account in the name of''WVI," an entity that Diaz claimed to own with his wife. 154 Diaz, 

however, had not previously identified WVI nor produced documents or other information to 

support these claims. 155 On May 10, 2013, Market Regulation sent Diaz's attorney a Rule 8210 

request for specific documents related to Diaz's revelations during his investigative testimony 

that had not been previously produced. 156 On May 22, 2013, Diaz's attorney advised Market 

Regulation that he no longer represented Diaz.157 

On June 4, 2013, Market Regulation contacted Diaz directly and emailed him a copy of 

its May 10, 2013 request for information. 158 On June 5, 2013, Diaz responded to Market 

Regulation's email. 159 Market Regulation provided Diaz until June 10, 2013, to provide a 

response to FINRA's Rule 8210 letter.160 Diaz never responded.161 

The Hearing Officer concludes that Diaz violated FINRA Rules 8210 and 2010 by failing 

to respond to the May 10, 2013 request for information. Diaz received th~ request and asked for 

153 Compl. ,i 113. 

IS4 Compl. ,Mi 114, 115. 

ISS Id. 

156 Compl. ,i 116; CX-4. 
157 Compl. ,i 117. 
158 Compl. ,i 118. 

1S9 Id. 

160 Id. 

161 Anderson Deel. ,i 50; Comp!. ,i 119. 
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an extension of time to respond, which the staff granted. Nonetheless, Diaz failed to provide the 

requested information. 

III. SANCTIONS 

A. Fraud, Conversion, and Improper Use of Funds 

For intentional or reckless misrepresentations and omissions of material facts, the FINRA 

Sanction Guidelines ("Guidelines") provide for fines ranging from $10,000 to $100,000, a 

suspension for a period of ten business days to two years, and, in an egregious case, a bar.162 For 

conversion of funds, particularly funds belonging to a customer, the Guidelines indicate that a 

bar in all capacities should be standard. 163 The Guidelines do not include specific principal 

considerations for those violations; rather, they direct the adjudicator's attention to the general 

Principal Considerations for Determining Sanctions. 164 

Here, many of the principal considerations are aggravating. As discussed above, Diaz 

made fraudulent statements to his customers and withheld material information about Nuela's, 

Nordica's, and Marca's financial conditions in an effort to misappropriate customer money and 

convert it to his own use and benefit. Diaz demonstrated a pattern of deception that involved 

four customers and one co-worker and resulted in his conversion of $900,000.165 Diaz's 

misconduct was intentional, occurred over the course of two years, resulted in significant 

customer loss, and enabled Diaz to profit handsomely. 166 Additionally, Diaz refused to return 

the customers' funds when requested, and returned CW's, DK.B's, and DMB's funds only after 

162 Guidelines at 88 (2013). 
163 Guidelines at 36. 

164 Id. 

165 Guidelines at 6-7 (Principal Consideration Nos. 8, 18). 
166 Guidelines at 6-7 (Principal Consideration Nos. 9, 11, 13, 17). 
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they or CR complained to National and the New York Attorney General. 167 For Diaz's 

fraudulent misconduct and conversion of customer and co-worker funds under Causes One, Two, 

and Three, Diaz is barred in all capacities and ordered to pay restitution to the injured parties as 

detailed below. 

8. Private Securities Transactions and Providing False Information to a Member 
Firm 

The Guidelines for private securities transactions recommend a fine of $5,000 to 

$50,000.168 The Guidelines also recommend that the adjudicator consider that Diaz sold away 

investments of $200,000 :from his firm to two customers and that the sales resulted in the 

violation of federal securities laws. 169 Both of these factors are aggravating, as are Diaz's 

proprietary or beneficial interest in Marca and Diaz's solicitation of another registered person at 

National to sell Marca.170 In addition, Diaz misrepresented to National that he was not involved 

in an outside business other than Nuela, Worldwide, and Worldwide Wealth Management, and 

he misrepresented the nature of his dealings with Nuela. 171 The Guidelines further state that, for 

sales between $100,000 and $500,000, a suspension of three to six months is recommended, but 

in cases such as this, involving significant aggravating factors, a more significant sanction may 

be appropriate. Given the aggravating factors present here, the Hearing Officer would fine Diaz 

and impose a suspension for violations under Causes Four and Five of the Complaint. In light of 

the bar imposed for violations under Causes One, Two, and Three, however, the Hearing Officer 

has not imposed additional sanctions under Causes Four and Five. 

167 Anderson Deel. ,i 36. 
168 Guidelines at 14. 

169 Id. 

110 Id. 

171 There are no Guidelines addressing Diaz's misrepresentation to National. 
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C. Failure to Fully and Timely Respond and Complete Failure to Respond to 
Requests for Information 

The Guidelines for untimely responses to requests for information pursuant to Rule 8210 

recommend a fine of $2,500 to $25,000.172 The Guidelines also recommend that the adjudicator 

consider a suspension ofup to two years. 173 The Guidelines recommend consideration of the 

importance to FINRA of the information requested, the degree of regulatory pressure required to 

obtain a response, and the length of time to respond.174 These factors are all aggravating. Diaz 

failed to respond to Market Regulation for more than one year before finally producing the 

requested information and documents. In order to get Diaz to respond, Market Regulation had to 

expend significant effort. Diaz responded after FINRA suspended him for his failure to respond 

and two days before his suspension would have converted to a bar. Furthennore, Market 

Regulation represents that the information that it sought from Diaz was important to this 

investigation because, without it, Market Regulation could not pursue all aspects ofits inquiry. 175 

Diaz's delaying tactics interfered with the investigation. 176 

The Guidelines for the failure to respond in any manner to requests for information 

pursuant to Rule 8210 recommend a bar.177 The Guidelines for a partial but incomplete response 

recommend a bar unless the person can demonstrate substantial compliance with all aspects of 

the request. 178 By either standard, Diaz's misconduct warrants a bar because Diaz cannot 

demonstrate substantial compliance with Market Regulation's May 10, 2013 request for 

172 Guidelines at 33. 

113 Id. 

114 Id. 

175 Anderson Deel. ,i 54. 

116 Id. 

177 Guidelines at 33. 

11a Id. 
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information and documents. Between October 2011 and December 2012, FINRA requested 

information from Diaz about his personal financial holdings.179 After Diaz failed to respond for 

more than one year, he finally provided information that Market Regulation deemed 

responsive. 180 During subsequent on-the-record testimony, however, Diaz disclosed that he held 

additional funds in other accounts for which he had not previously provided documentation to 

FINRA. 181 In May 2013 correspondence, Market Regulation requested documentation related to 

Diaz's newly disclosed financial resources. 182 Diaz failed to respond. 183 Diaz has not 

demonstrated substantial compliance. Furthermore, the Guidelines recommend consideration of 

the importance to FINRA of the information requested.184 This factor is aggravating in that 

Market Regulation represents that the information that it sought from Diaz was important to this 

investigation. 18
~ 

For Diaz's Rule 8210 violations under Cause Six of the Complaint, the Hearing Officer 

bars Diaz from associating with any member firm in any capacity. As discussed above, there are 

numerous aggravating factors present and no mitigating factors. 

Accordingly, Diaz is barred from associating with any FINRA member firm in any 

capacity. In addition, Diaz is ordered to pay restitution to: (1) JM in the amount of$550,000; 

and (2) CR in the amount of $50,000. All restitution payments shall be paid to the individuals 

with interest from the date of their investments, until paid in full. 

179 Compl. fl 94-112; CX-4. 
18° Compl. ,i 112. 
181 Compl. fl 114, 115. 
182 Compl. ,i 116, CX-4. 
183 Anderson Deel. ,i 50; Compl. ,i 119. 
184 Guidelines at 33. 
185 Anderson Deel. ,i 54. 
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IV. ORDER 

For willfully violating Section 1 0(b) of the Exchange Act, Exchange Act Rule 1 0b-5, 

NASD Conduct Rule 3040, and FINRA Rules 8210, 2150, 2020 and 2010, as outlined in this 

decision, Respondent Jaime Andres Diaz is barred from associating with any FINRA member 

firm in any capacity. In addition, Diaz is ordered to pay restitution to (1) JM in the amount of 

$550,000, plus interest thereon at the rate established under Section 6621(a)(2) of the Internal 

Revenue Code from July 2010, until paid; and (2) CR in the amount of $50,000, plus interest 

thereon at the rate established under Section 6621(a)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code from 

January 2011, until paid. 186 The bars will become effective immediately if this decision becomes 

FINRA's :final.disciplinary action in this proceeding. 

Copies to: 

Hearing Officer 

Jaime Andres Diaz (by overnight courier and first-class mail) 
Lora W. Alexander, Esq. (by electronic and.first-class mail) 
James J. Nixon, Esq. (by electronic mail) 
David E. Rosenstein, Esq. (by electronic mail) 
Robert Marchman, Esq. (by electronic mail) 

186 26 U.S.C. § 6621(a)(2). The interest rate, which is used by the Internal Revenue Service to determine interest 
due on underpaid taxes, is adjusted each quarter and reflects market conditions. JM and CR are identified in the 
addendum to this decision, which is served only on the parties. In the event that JM and CR cannot be located, 
unpaid restitution plus accrued interest should be paid to the appropriate escheat, unclaimed-property, or abandoned
property fund for the states in which JM and CR were last known to reside. Satisfactory proof of payment of the 
restitution, or of reasonable and documented efforts undertaken to effect restitution, shall be provided to staff of 
FINRA's Department of Market Regulation no later than 90 days after the date when this decision becomes final. 
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EXHIBIT A 



Ji'INANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY A1J'l'll01UTY 
OmCB OPB&+JffllG Omrm 

DEPAll.TMBNTOP MARDTRBotn.ATION, 

Complainant, 

v. 

JAIMBANDllBS DIAz (CRD 4298373), 

llesponc1ant. 

DJSCIPUNAllyhocBBDJNG 
No. 20110295459 - 02 

HBA1UNO Onlanl: 

COMPLAINT 

The Department of Market Regulation allepl: 

1. B.,uri!ll iu December 2009 and c:ontinuing through November 2011, laime 

Andres Diaz ("Diaz"), while regiatmecl at a PINRA member firm, by means of dm,ptive, 

manipulative, and otha: fraudulent devices or comriVIIDCCI, COlMll'tecl approximately $850,000 

&om mur CDBtonun, ono of wham, customer CW, was eldarly. Diaz also converted $50,000 

from a reglsten,cl n,preaentattve who worked at Diaz's PINRA member firm. Diaz told 

customers that their fbnc1s would bo 1180d to mveat in two new restaurama in New York City and 

told one Cl18t0mar that his ftmds would bo invested in real estate developm111118 in New York City 

and a resort in Bonnuda. Diaz, however, did not invest the ftmda aa he had mprescmtccl to his 

cuatomera. Instead, he convarted the ftmds 1br bis personal 111e, to pay apenses nlated to his 

branch office business and to pay earlier investors. 



2. Aa a result, Diaz enppcJ in 1rlD8acliona, acta, practices and rm of business 

that c:onstituted wiDfal violatiODS of Sec:tion lO(b) of the Bwumge Act of 1934 and SBC Rule 

10b-S thenmm!er, and violations of PINRA Rules 2010, 2020, and 2150. 

3. Jn addition, Diaz participatad in private aecmfties tnmactions fbr which ho WIS 

comptlDllted. Diaz, however, tailed to pmvide writtm notice to his employer memba' firm 

descn1,ing m detail the poposecl traDsaclions. his role therain in, or whether ho WIS receiving or 

would n:ceive sellina compensation in ccmnection therewith, in Yiolation of PINRA Rule 2010 

and NASD Rule 3040. 

4. Moreover, Diaz solicited investments ftom clients ofhia employar FINRA 

member mm and falaely dmied that ho had solic:itecl those investmmts to hia P.INRA member 

firm in violation of PJNRA Rule 201 0. 

5. Pmthennora, in conm:c:ticm with PINRA11 mveatigation oftbia mattm, Diaz failed 

to timely respond and completaly failed to respond to PJNRA Rule 8210 requesta for docummtl 

and infimnation in violation of PINRA Rules 2010 and 821 0. 

Th llelpolldmt ad llll'lldletlen 

6. Diaz first became employed in the securities industry when he registarecl u a 

Gemn1 Sacmities R.epnsmtatfve with a PINRA member firm in November 2000. Diaz 

continued in the industry 1111d regiatared with his moat recent employing FlNRA member film in 

July 2007. In April 2008, Diaz also roptmed as a Oe.o.eral Seourities Principal. He remained 

registarecl until Decembw 1, 2011, when hia finn :filed a Form US tffflltneting Ilia rogiatndion. 

On June 27, 2012, Diaz's former firm filed an amended Form US disclosing a Ol18t0mer 

complaint/arbitration by customer JM aDeatna that Diaz may hawi enppd in conduct actiODlble 

under applicablo federal securities lawa and regulations and tho rul• of PINRA. Although 

2 



Respondent is no longer ?OSistaed or associated with a FINRA mamber, he remems lllbject to 

FlNRA's jurisdiction for pmposea of this proceeding. pmauant to Article V, Section 4 of 

PlNRA's By-Laws, bccaae (1) thD Camp1amt was filed within two years after the effective date 

of termination ofRespondent's registration with a FJNRA member firm, namely, December 1, 

2011; (2) tho Complaint was filed within two years after the date upon which his FINRA 

mamba: firm filed an amended Form US disclosins RCtionable conduct, namely, June 27, 2012; 

and (3) the Complaint charges him with miscomuct committed while he was registered with a 

PlNRA member and with fiilina to respond to a PINRA request for do~enta and information 

during the two-year period after the date upon which he ceased to be registered or associated 

with aPINRA member. 

T.be Frndalent Selteme 

7. 

scheme involving the solicitation of four customm and a co-worker to invest money in three 

sepmate business ventures: (1) Nuela R.estaurant; (2) Nontica Development; and (3) Marca 

R.eataurant. 

8. The promi8801')' notes and equity interests that Diaz sold to customen relating to 

these business ventmes were securities pmsuant to Section 3(a)(l 0) of the Securities Bxc1umge 

Act of 1934. 

Dia SollclCI Cuatomen JM and CW to IBveat hi Nuela Restaurant 

9. Jn 2007, Dia. along with two other investors, became involved in developing a 

now restamant in New Yolk City called NuelL Nuela was intended to be a Latin inapjred 

restaurant and was nppoaed to opm in late 2007 or early 2008. The investors, however, did not 

have enough money to complete the project. In late 2008, Diaz and his brother invested 
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SS00,000 in NuelL A fow months later, Diaz began receiving capital calla 1iom otber investors 

ata1ing that another SI million was needed to complete the project. In mid-2009, Diaz and bis 

brother invested an additional $500,000 in Nuela and he solicited hil fti&md AT to also invest 

SS00,000 in Nuela. 

10. ·1n late 20091 Diaz began soliciting climta of his PINRA member film to invest in 

NuelL 

CllltomerJM 

11. In December 20091 Diaz solicited a client ~fhis PINRA member firm, JM. to 

inV111t in Nuela. Diaz told JM that bis investment wou1c1 be 1l8Cld to purahaae an equity h:dac:st in 

Nuela. Diaz, however, did not tell JM about the capital calla ho had received. that the opening of 

the restaurant had been delayed, or that he may not receive a ntum on bis investment and could 

lose his principal investment 

12. On or about December 22, 20091 upon Diaz's recamrnftlldation and advice, JM 

sold approximately $70,000 worth of aecmitiea that he held in his bmlcerage aocount at Diaz'a 

PINRA member firm. 

13. The nm day, on Doc:ember 231 2009, JM wiied the $70,000, plus an additional 

$130,000 from another source, for a total of S200,000 to the bank BCC011Dt for Diaz's investment 

advisory company, Worldwide Asset Protection. The balmco in the Worldwide Aaaet Protection 

account WU $6,717.54 immediately before JM'a wire traalfer. 

14. After he teeeived JM'a wire transfer of $200,000, on or about December 23, 

2009, Diaz wheel $75,000 from the Worldwide Asset Protection account to the bank account for 

Nuela. 
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IS. Also on December 23, 2009, Diaz wired $125,000 hm the Worldwide Asset 

Protection account to AT, Diaz's niend who had also invested in Nue1a. 

16. Diaz did not deliver any ahares in Nueta to JM or provide him with any 

docmnmts evidencing his pmported $200,000 eqDity mvestmmt m Nuela. 

17. On or about Jammy 15, 2010, upon Diaz's recornrnmdatlon and advi"' JM again 

sold secudtiea. app.cn'llhmmity SS0,000 worth, from his bmkmap account and wired the 

pmceeda to Diaz's Worldwide Asset Protection account. 1he balance m the Worldwide Asset 

Protection acccnmt wu $262.54 immactiat~ybcfoic JM's wire tranafer. 

18. On January 15, 2010, ahmt1y atler he received Ma $50,000 wile transfar, Diaz 

wrote a check payable to hlmaalf tbr S9,000. ID the memo line, Diaz wrote "payment Nue1a 

interest." On lamua:y 20, 2010, Diaz wrote a aeocmd check payable to himaelffor $6,200 and the 

memo line stated "payment Nuela Jntetest."' 

19. On Jammy 25, 2010, Diaz wJred $35,000 from the Worldwide Aaaet Protection 

account to VP, another one of Diaz's fiiende who bad aJao invmted in NuelL 

20. I)jaz did not povide JM any aharea or other doc:mnmm evidencing hia pmported 

SS0,000 equity fnva1mmt in Nue1L 

21. Contrary to his representations to JM, Diaz did not invest aD of JM'a t\mds in 

NuelL Diaz miaappropriatec JM'a fimda by falaely rcpacmtiDg that ho would uae thD money to 

purcbaae an equity tmnst m Nuela, whm matud, J>iaz converted JM'a 1bnda for his pcnonal 

use and to make payments to earlier invators. 

22. Diaz did not tell JM that bis f\mda woulcl be l1Hd in this manner, nor did JM 

BDthorize Diaz to \180 his fimds in tbia ID8Dller. 
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CmtomuCW 

23. In February 2010, Diaz solicited another climt ofbia PJNRA member firm, CW, 

age 79 at the time, to llffll!I in Nuela. Diaz did not tell CW about the c:api1a1 calla, tbat tbe 

OJJCIIIUII of1hla iestawant had bean delayed, or that he may not fflC8ive anyratum on his 

inveslmcnt and that he could lose bis principal inveslmmt. 

24. Diaz solicited CW to pmchase a pmmisaorynote in the amoum ofSl00,000. '!be 

pmmissory note was to pay :intmest on a periodic basis. Diaz told CW that his t\mds would be 

uacd to inveat Dl NuelL 

25. On or about February 16, 2010, CW, upon Diaz's reoo111mendation and advice, 

bonowecl $75,000 apinat the securities in the 1m>Jange account he held at Diws PlNRA 

member 1bm. cw wired the proeeedl to bis personal bank aocomit with Cita"bank. 

26. On Pebruary 17, 2010, Diaz sent CW an email wi1h instructiODS on how to wire 

fimds from his Citibank acccnmt to Diaz's Worldwide Alset Protection account. After receivina 

the email, CW wired the $75,000 he bonowcd from bis brokerage account plus an additional 

$25,000, for a total of $100,000, from his penonal bank aeccnmt with Citibank to Diaz's 

Worlclwide Asset Protection aocount. The balance in the Worldwjde Asset Protection. account 

WU $137.54 immediately before the wire transfer ftom CW. 

27. On the same day that he received the wire tnmsfl1r from CW, Diaz wind $50,000 

from the Worldwide Auet Protection account to his pellOD8l bank account. The balance in 

Diaz's penonal bank aCC01JDt was $3.9:' ffllJ'Dediately before he wired in $50,000 from the 

Worldwide Asset Protection account. 
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28. On February 18, 2010, Diaz wrote two cbecb payable to hhaldf iom bis 

pmona1 bank account, one for $35,000 and one for $1S,000, laving a balance in his personal 

bank accomit of S3.93. 

29. Diaz depoaited the $1S,000 chedc into his Woddwide Wealth MID..,,,,,,,, 

account and l18ed themonay to pay for apenaes related to his manch otlice basinesa inc1udiDa 

telephone bills and othar expenses. Diaz deposited the $35,000 check into 8llOthc:r ODO of bis 

personal bank accounts. 

30. Also on February 18, 2010, Diaz wind $40,000 fi:om his Worldwide Asset 

Protection ACCOUDt to Nue1a. 

31. That nme day, Diaz wmte two checb payable to himaelf 1tum the Worldwide 

Allet Protection account, one for SS,000, and one for $5,100. In the memo line tbr the $5,000 

check, Diaz wmte 11Nuala" and in the memo line tbr tho S.5,100 check, Diaz wmte "Jaime 

ReJmbanemmtJ" 

32. CW did not teeelve a pmmiaaory note ftom Diaz and did not recaive any 

doemnenta mdenmna his investment in NuelL He did, however, receive one illta:ut payment 

of St 0,000 on his investment but did not receive any othar interest paymenta. CW repeatedly 

aabd Diaz to return bis principal investment of SI 00,000 but Diaz did not retum. bis timda. 

33. In July 2010, CW sold Ill of tho seemitles in his brobnp accomt at Diaz's 

FINRA mambar film and used tho pmc:eeds to repay the $75,000 loan agaiu8t the securities in 

his brokerage accomt that he had taken in onler 1D invest with Diaz. 

34. Contrary to his repmmtatiODB to CW, Diaz did not invest all ofhil ftmda in 

Nue1a. Diaz miaappropdated CW's f\mds by falsely representing that ho would use the money to 
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iJMat in Nue1a, whCID instead. Diaz converted CW's timda 1br bis personal 1J10 Bild 1br expenses 

related to bis branch office buaineaa. 

35. Dia did not tell CW that his t\mda would be used in tbi• rnenner, nor did CW 

avtboriu Diaz to uae his fiDls in t1UJ manna-, 

Diaz Solldtl cuto ... JM ta Iavenln Nordlca Developmmt 

36. 1n or mound mict-2010, Diaz became mwlved with Nordica Dovalopment. 

Accontina to Diu. tbe purpose ofNcmlica wu to develop anew houaina plOject in New York 

and to develop a ffl80rt cc,ommnity in BamudL Diaz pencmallyinvestecl $70,000 in Nontica 

and again solicited inveaton. including clilldl ofhia PlNRA member mm, to invest in Nontica. 

37. In July 2010, Diaz CODYinced JM to invest $300,000 in Nmdica. Diaz told JM 

that his tbnds would be ued to purchue a fiaotional interest in the New York housing 

development and tho resort in Bermude. 

38. DJ.az, however, did not tell JM tbat ha had not received any financial data fi,r 

Nordics, that the developen were having difBculty gelling pcmnita to begin ccmatmcticm, or that 

ho had not conducted my duo diligence on the principal invcston who were responsible for 

completing the project. 

39. On 1uly 13, 2010, JM wired SIS0,000 fiom his pcncmal bank account to Diaz's 

Worldwide Auel Protmction armant. The balance in Diaz's Worldwide Asset Protection 

llCC01IDt WU $1,171.68 immediately before JM's WR tnmafar, 

40. Shortly after he received ~• whe transfer of $150,000, Diaz tnmferred $90,000 

to his personal bank account and l18ed those tbnc1a to pay for his personal expenses. 

41. On July 16, 2010, ~ sold approximatc1y StS0,000 worth of accmities in his 

bmkerage account at Diaz's FINRAmember firm. 
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42. JM wirad the proceeda of his aalo to his personal bank account and on .Tuly 20, 

2010, he win,d $150,000 from his personal bank account to Diaz's Wmlclwlde Asset Protection 

account. 

43. OnJuly21, 2010, Diaz wired $100,000 :from the Worldwide Asset Protection 

account to his fiimd, VP. 

44. Also on July 21, 2010, Diaz wmta a meek :from the Worldwide Asset Protection 

ICC011llt for $10,000 and, that smne day, deposited a check for Sl0,000 into hill paraonal account. 

Diaz used the fimda to pay ibr his personal ex.penses. 

4S. On July 23, 2010, Diaz transferred $8,000 from the Worldwide Asset Protection 

account to his personal account. and on July 26, 2010, he 1nmsfand SI 0,000 to his pmona1 

account. Diaz used the 1\mds to pay for his pmona] m.pcmses. 

46. Contrary to his repiesentations to JM, Diaz did not invest JM's fi1nds in NordiCL 

Diaz misappropriated JM's :6mda by filsoly representing that he would 1180 the money to invest 

in Nordics, when instead, Diaz converted JM's :l\mds for his personal use and used tbe i1mda to 

mate a payment to an earlier investor. 

47. Diaz did not tell JM that his fi1nds would be used in this mmma; nor did JM 

authorize Diaz to use his tim.ds in this manner. 

48. In total, JM invested approximately $550,000 with Diaz between bis investment 

in Nuela and his investment in NcmliCL Diaz, howaver, did not make any mta:estpayment to 

JM and, despite requests to do so, Diaz did not retmn his principal investment and did not 

provide JM with documents iegarding his investments in Nmdica or Nuela. . 



Diaz Solleltl Cllltoma'B DKB and DMB and Co-worker CR to Invest la Marca Reltnrant 

49. In or around late 2010. Diaz became invomcl in a sacond restaurant venlure, 

Marca Rataurant. Accmdioa to Diaz, Marca WU intended to be ID Arpntini1D steakhouse with 

ID mideqpoand niptlife space. Diaz persomlly invested $800,000 in Marca and again. bepn. 

solicitina iDYestom, inc1udins climts ot and a co-worker at, ma FlNRA member mm. 

50. In or about January 2011, Diaz solicited. CR, a registered reprelCllltative with 

Diaz's FJNRA member mm. 1D invest $50,000 in Marca. Diaz told Cit that he waa an owmr of 

Marca and that by investing in the reatmmmt, CR.11 fbnds would be med 1D pu:rcbaae an equity 

inten:Bt in Marca. Diaz, however. was not ID ownar in Marca amt wu not aathorizcd to make 

any represmtatiou on behalf of Mlraa or to sell CR. an equity .bmnst in Maroa. 

51. Diaz told CR that Marca was a good investmant. In doiDa ao. Diaz filled 1D tall 

CR. that he (i) had ccmducted no due dilipace on 1ho principal inveatma responsible for the 
. . 

project; (li) bad not received any finanaial c1ocm:nen11 fiom the principal inveaton; and, (iii) 

knew that the devolopara did not have the ucmary parmita to complete the project. 

52. Diaz also asked CR. to solicit clients of their PINRA mmnbllll' firm to invest in 

Marca. Diaz told CR to have investors deposit 1\mds into one of two bank accomata 1br Man:a, 

ODD at HSBC and one at Citibank. Dia, however, did not tall CR. that he did not havo authority 

to access any bank accounts that bad been created tbr Marca by the principal invcston of the 

restaurant. Furtmr, Diaz did not have the autbodty to direct inveatma to clepoait fimda into any 

Marca bank account. 
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53. CR tranaferml, via bankjoumal, SS0,0001tom. his personal bank accmmt at 

HSBC to the HSBC bank account pmportedly for Mama. CR, however, did not receive any 

docmnmda evidencing bis equity interest in Mum. 

54. CR, at DJaz'a RqUeSt, called two clienll of their PlNllA mmnber mm, DD and 

DMB, and asbd them to invmt $100.000 each in Malca. 

SS. DKB deposited Sl00,000 fiom his per80llll bank account into the HSBC bank 

accouat pmportedly for Marca. 

S6, DMB 10ld $100,000 worth of aecwitiea that he held in a brolanp a:co\lllt wit& 

Diaz's FlNRA member mm and received a check iom tho film for the proceeds. 0m:o he 

received the moaay, DMB deposited it into hia paonal account and thm wrote a abea1c payable 

to Mm:a and mailed it to Citibank for daposit into the armunt pmpodedly fir Marca. 

57. Diaz dndlDd promissory notaa for DKB 1111d DMB evidencing their pwported 

iuveatmant in Marca and emailed them to ~ who in tum, emailed the notes to DKB and DMB. 

58. The promiaaory notes provided for 10 peromt interest and the retum of 1hair 

principal by the md of 2011. Diaz told CR that if Marca reached SS million in sales In any of the 

first three years, investon would all receive an additional intarest payment of six peramt. 

59. Diaz, however, did not tall CR that he did not have tho authority to sell Marca 

pmmisso~ notes to DKB or DMB or to mike any repreaentatiODB on babalf ofMarca. 

60. At tho md of 2011, Marca had not opened fbr lmsinesa but the principal and 10 

peRmt iDtln8t wu due on the promisBOry notes. Diaz did not make any paymmta on thenotea. 

61. CR. requested that Diaz retum his funds and the :ftmda ofDKB and DMB. When 

he had not returned their t\mda aftar repeated n,questa to do 10, CR filed a complaint with the 

New YOik Attmney Gmeral. 
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62. After he filed the complaint, Diaz returned DKB's and DMB's t\mda. Diaz did 

not l'BlmD CR's tbnds. 

63. Contrary to his repreaantaticms, Diaz did not have tbe autbodty to make any 

n,p:aentetfom on babalf of Marca. Conaequmtly, Diaz fillaety aokl an cqui1J intmllt in Marca 

to CR and falaely aold Mama pomiaaary notes to DKB and DMB. Mmeovar, mstead of 

mvastiDg the 1bnda as he, 1epiesented, Diaz mJaappmpriated and converted the t\mda for his 

penoaa1 ue. 

FIRST CAUSB OF ACTION 
Mmdpulatlve and Deceptive Dmeet 

(Seetloa lO(b) of tile SIClll'ltl111 Jwhmp Act, 
Raia lOb-5, 8lld 1INllA Rld112010 ad 2020) 

64. Market R.eplation reallep and incmpmates by ra&nnce all pniceding 

65. By engaging in the foregoing conduct, Diaz, in cmmection with the purchaae or 

sale of a security, clirectly or incmectly, by use of means or mstrmnmtaliti111 of intaltate 

commerce, or the mails, or the faciliti111 of• national securities ncbange, lmowiaalY or 

nddeuly, employed a dmce, scb.ane or artifice to deftaud; made 1llltn1e statemeata of matmial 

facts or omitted to state material filcts necessary in order to make tho slatemmts made, in lipt of 

tho citcumltlll1cea in which they wen made, not misleading smd eapged in an act, practice, or 

comae ofbusinaa which operated or would oparate u a had or deceit upon anypenon, in 

wi1liw violation of Section 1 O(b) of tho Exchange Act of 1934 and. SBC Rule lOb-5 thereunder. 

66. In addition, Diaz effected tnnsactiODS in, or induced the pmchaae or ale o~ 

secmiti111 by means of manipulative, deceptive or other mmdulent devices or contrivances, in 

violation of PINRA Rules 2010 and 2020. 
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SECOND CAUSE 01' ACfiON 
Improper U11 ad Ccmwralon of Caleomen' l'IUuls 

(J'INRA Rlllea 2010 and 2150) 

67. Market Regulation re-allepl ami inCOlpOl8tal by nfermce all preceding 

paragraphs. 

68. Customers JM, CW, DKB or DMB neithar knew about nor authorized Diaz's 

misappropriation of their fimda for bis own peraona11188. 

69. By enpgiq in the foreaoina condact, Diaz made improper w o( and COJMlded, 

his Cllltmmn' flmds in violation ofFINRA Rules 2010 and 2150. 

TBJRD CAUSB 01' ACfiON 
Improper Use and COll\'ll'lloa of hndl 

(J'INRA R1lle 2010) 

70. Mamt Replation xe-alleps 1111d inc:orporata by nfmmce all precectiq 

paragraphs. 

71, CR neither knew about nor authorized Diaz's misappropriation of his funds for 

Ina own penona1 use. 

72. By engaging in the foregoing conduct, Diaz made :impropor use o( and convarted, 

Cll's 1\mda in violation of PINRA Rule 2010. 

JlOlJllTB CA1JSB Oll' ACDON 
Private Secarltl• T,anuetiom In Marea 
(l'.INRA Rule 28101111d NASD RaJe 3041) 

73. Marbt R.eawation l'Hlleges 8Dd incorporatea by reference all pn,certing 

paraarapha. 

74. Di~ while associated with a PINRA member finD, participated in private 

securities transactions involving his sale of pmmiuory notes in Marca, without disclosing his 

participation in such private aeamitiea tramac:tiona 1D his employing FJNRA ~ firm. 
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75. In Jumary 2011, Diaz sold two promissory notes in Marca totaling $200,000 to 

DKB 811d DMB, castomm of Diaz's FlNRA member firm. 

76. The promissory notes bore a 10 percent interest rate. The notes included a date on 

which aD outatandiq principal and intmat was duo. The funds were prowled to Diaz 1br the 

pmpoae of investing in Marca. 

77. Diaz was compensated 1ivm the issuance of the promissory notes by virtue of his 

use of the proceeds aencumJ by the sale of the notes, inoluding tho 1180 of the proceeds tbr bis 

pcraonal benefit. 

78. Prior to participating in the private secmities tnmsactions involvJng Marca, Diaz 

failed to pn,vide written notice to the member firm with which he was 888ociated describJng in 

detail tho pmposed tnmsac:tion and his pmposed role tbmiD and whether he had received or 

might receive selling compensation in coDDIClion with each transaction. 

79. As a result, Diaz's employing mmnber mm was unaware that Diaz was engaging 

in private securities transactions with customcn of the finn or that Diaz was receiving 

compmsationinconnectlon~th~1nmsactions. 

80. By engaging in the finaoing conduct, Diaz violated FINRA Rule 2010 and 

NASD Rule 3040. 

li'M'B CAUSE 01' ACI'ION 
Provldbla :rue Information to Ids ll'INRA Member :rJnn 

(ll'INRARule 2010) 

81. Madcet Replation realleges and incorporates by refermce all yecwJing 

paragraphs. 

82. On bis Outside Business Disclosme form in the Central Reaistration Depositmy 

System ("CRD"), Diaz identified Worldwide Asset Protection, Woddwide Wealth Menagemmt 
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and Nue1a Reataurant as ou1Bicle buaineaa activities. Diaz icladificd Nueta as a non-investment 

Jelated JmsinlSI activity. Diaz did not disclose Marca or Nordica as outside business activities. 

83. On March 16, 2011, Diaz c:ompletecl the flDl1's semi-amwa1 compliance 

questimmaira. 

84. On the questionnaire, Diaz fiJse1y ca1ifiod tbat bis outside luneee disalOIUl'O 

fmm in CRD was accmate BDd dun were no additicms/deletlona or chanp. Diaz's certification 

wu false bocauao ho had not disclosed his involvmnent in Nordlca or Mina in CRD. ID 

addition, although Diaz hfmtifled .Nuela as an outaide business activity, he ta1se1y cJahvr:d that it 

waa a non-investment buaineas activity. 

85. Question 6.1 of the q,wtiornvri,- asbd: "[w]hile enppd in this outside b11smeas 

[Nuela] have you rmed capital, issued debt, mada nsftmls for financial ammganents, loaned or 

fnvested fimds either peracmally or on behalf of others?" Diaz falaely wwared "no." ID fact, 
( 

Diaz penonally inveated Sl million in Nuala, aolicited a customer of his F1NRA member firm to 

purchase a $100,000 promi880ry noto for Nuala and solicited another CllltOmar of his FINRA 

member firm to invest $250,000 in NuclL Pmther, Diaz did not teeeiva prior written appmva], 

u required by his FlN1lA member finn, for CW or JM to invest or otherwise participate in 

Nuela. 

86. Question 10 of the questiooneh asbd: id]id you receive any verbal complainta 

or writtm complainta or gdavances between July 1, 2010 and prescmt?" Diaz falaely amwm:ed 

"no." Diaz's response wu fa1ae because customen CW and JM had complained to him about 

their Investments in Nuala and/or Nontica. 

87. Question 12 of the questi.Olllllire asbd: "[b]etween July 1, 2010 and present, have 

you raised capital for any p,up or entity other than tmoup business that waa conducted throush 
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yom Broker Dealer?" Diaz &laely amwered "Do.• In &ct, Diaz had raised capital for Nuela, 

Nordica and Marca. 

88. Question 47 of the queadonnaire asked: "[h]avo you bem involved in any 

capacity in the puzdlue or sale of a seemitynot ccmdueled tJnouah ~ BIOka-I>ealed'' Diaz 

falsely 8IJIWlnd "no." In fact, Diaz did solicit the Ille of pmmisamy notes on bebalf of Marca 

and Nucla. 

89. Question SS of tho questionnaire asked: "[d]o you JeCOIIIIIICIJd secmitiea to 

dicats cmr age~ Diaz fillsely anawend "no." In trutb, Diaz solicited CDSlomer CW, ap 79 

at the tune. to purcbase a promi880I)' note, a security, in Nua1a. 

90. On May 19, 2011, Diaz completed bis firm's outaide buainBss intaost Conn 1br 

Nontiaa. In 11l8pODIIO to question S ,:w]ill my custmmn of [tho firm] a1ao b6 cmtomcn, 

inve8ton or otha:wiae involved in this [Nordic&) outside lmsineaa intcnst?" Diaz falaely 

91. To th11 conbary, Diaz had n1sec1 capital fbr Nonti.ca by soliciting a cutomer of 

his FJNRA mamber firm to invest $300,000 in Nordica. 

92. By engaging in 1be fongoina conduct, Diaz violated PINRA Rule 2010. 

SJX1'B CAUSE OJ' ACTION 
Falun to l'aDy and Timely Reapond ad Complete l'allare to Respond 

to PINRA Rllle 1218 RequuCI (l'INRA Ralel 2010 and 1210) 

parqrapbs. 

UDtlmely RespOllle 

94. On Octobar 14, 2011, Office of Pl1md Detection and Market Intelligence 

(OPDMI) staff seat Diaz a letter pmaaant to FINRA Rule 8210 requating infbrmation in 
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connection with OFDMr• investigation of this matter. OFDMI staff •mt the PIN1lA Rule 8210 

letter to the residential address that wu pmvided in CRD via certified mail, firat clasa mail and 

PedBx. Tbe certified mail letter wu returned to staff u UDdcliverable. 

95. On October 25, 2011, OPDMI staff amt Diaz a 1bJ1ow..11p letter pmawmt to 

PlNRA 1lD1e 8210 reqDCltfng mformatioD in tbis matter. OFDMI atmf amt the mDow-up 

PINRA Rule 8210 letter to his residential CRD address via certified mail mcl first c1us mail. A 

copy of the letter was a1•o amt to the compliam:e officer at Diazts PINRA member firm. 

96. On October 26, 2011, OFDMI staff received an email lam the law firm 

repres I ntina Diaz in tbia matta-. The law firm requested on behalf of Diaz, and w pmted, an 

atmBion to respond to the PlNRA R.we 8210 request until Nowmber 3, 2011. 

97. On Ncmmbcr3, 2011, Diaz's attomeyreque•tal, and wu 11aatcc1, a second 

mrtmsion to napond to the PlNRA Rulo 8210 nqueat mtil November 10, 2011. 

98. On November 161 20111 six daya after the respomo wu due, Diaz's attomey 

requested, and was granted. a thinl extension to respond to the PINRA Rule 8210 request until 

November 18, 2011. 

99. On Nowmber 18, 2011, Diaz, through his attomay, submitted m incomplete 

response to the PINRA Rule 8210 nqueat. In reriewfn& bis response. ataft"noticecl that Diaz did 

not pmdace all ofhia penona1 bank IICC¥J1lllt statemmta 1br the period July 2007 throuah October 

2011. 

100. On December 81 2011, staff called Diaz's attomey and requested tho doc:mnenll 

that had not bom produced. Diaz's attomey did not provide the milling docummts. 

101. On March 16, 2012, staff called Diaz's attorney and apin requested the 

documents that had not been pmduced. On March 27, 2012, Diaz's attomey told staff that Diaz 
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W8I pmdacina the bank account statements that had bam pieviously n,quam:cL The staff; 

howaver, did not receive the bank account atatmulllt8 from Diaz or his attmnoy. 

102. On April 3, 2012, when hia 1esponae had still not be received, staff amt a second 

follow-up FINRA Rule 8210 n,quc,at to Diaz, throush his attomey, with a Hat of documents and 

information that had not bem fDc1uded in the November 18, 2011 production. 

103. On April 11, 2012, when ltllff still had not RCaived tba teqlJelted documeom, 

staff coatacted Diaz's attomey to apin request the docmncmta that had not been plOduced. 

104. On April 16, 2012, wbm staff still had not received the requestecl documema, 

staff again c:ontacted Diaz's attomay to request the docmnea1a that had not been produced. 

10s. 0n April us. 2012, Diaz, tbroulh his attomey, pmvided a acconc1 imx,mplete 

mponae to the FlNRA ble 8210 request. Diaz failed to paodoce all bank atatenlffl191iom 1uly 

2009 throush October 2011 for 8CC01llllB ill whic:h be bad a financial intcnst. On April 27, 2012, 

atatfrequested tbat Diaz's attomey produce tbo remabdna 1'ank account statements. The staff; 

however, did not receive the ranaining bank atatemeldll. 

106. On May 24, 2012, staff apin cantactm Diaz's attmm,y amt requestecl the 

doc:uments that had not bem produced. The staff, however, did not receive the fflDJ•iaina beak 

statements. 

107. On .hme 1, 2012, atatf sant Diu. tbroagb bis attomey, a tbird follow-up PINRA 

Rule 8210 request with a list of the docmnenta and infbrmation that had not been included in 

either the November 18, 2011 pmdudion or the April 16, 2012 production. Diaz, howaver, did 

not respond to tbia request mul did not nquest an extonaion. 

108. On September 12, 2012, more than two months later, when his response had atill 

not been received, staff initiated a FINRA Rulo g552 proceeding against Diaz for failina to fully 
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reaponc1 to repeatlld PINRA Rule 8210 requests. The Notice of Suspension was seat via FodBx. 

and first c188I mail to Diaz's CRD addreaa. A copy of tho Notice of Suspmaion was ICIDt to 

Diaz•• attomey. 

l 09. Tho Notice of Suspmaion letter fncludad, amona other things. notice that Diaz 

would be ll18J)Cllldod from neochdina with any FINRA member in any capacity unleu he fblly 

complied with the PINRA Rule 8210 recJDC1111 on or ba1bre October 91 2012. 

110. On Soptamber 24, 20121 Diaz, thmuah his attorney, submitted a thud incomplete 

:n•pDDBO to thD F1NRA Rule 8210 letter. Diaz did not submit all of the bank acccnmt lbdnmmta 

that had been nqueated m the initial PINRA Rulo 8210 request. 

111. On October 2, 2012, staff cxmtacted Diaz, thmugb his attorney, and infimned him 

that tho RlpODle w11 ltiD incomplete and idmtifiod the specific dooumen1a and ildbrmation that 

had not bem submitted. Dfaz, howavar, did not .respond and did not request an ateuion. 

112. 0n October 9, 2012, Diaz WU sent a Jetter informiDa him that he WU nspandecl 

ftom IIIOCiatiq with any PINRA member flnn in llllY capacity and would be barred OD 

December 12, 2012, ifbe did not fully comply with the PINRA Rule 8210 rcspanse. 

On Docembar 101 2012, two days betbre he was to be baned, Diaz, through bis attomey1 

submitted additiOllll docmmmta and infimnatlOJL At that time, staff reasonably believed that 

Diaz had substantially complied with the FINRA Rule 8210 requests. 

Complete J.l'allun fD Relpond 

113. On May 7, 2013, ataiftookDiaz11 tllltimonyto question him abouthia 

involvement with Nue1a, Nordica, and Marca and to c1eter:mino what happened to the custom.era• 

money. 
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114. Dmina his inveatiptive testimony, Diaz testified that he had seva.1 rniJJiona of 

c1oDan. 1be bank account statmumta that Diaz provided in his prior PlNRA Rule 8210 

nspcmses, however, did not mpport his c1mm. 

115. Jn his tsimony, Diaz stated that he kept the Dllliority ofhia 1bnda in a bank 

account in tho name ofWVJ, which ia a company that ho OWDS wi1h his wife. Diaz, however, 

had not provided any docmneata or other infmmation for the WVI account .in reapmae to the 

PffMODI PINL\Rule 8210n,quests. 

· 116. On May 10, 2013, ataf!'smt Dia, thnJuah his attomay, a PlNRA RDle 8210 

request and identified the spocific documents that had not been pioducocl in any ofhia prior 

responses. 'Ibo response was due on May 22, 2013. Diaz did not respond 811d did not requeat an 

atanaion. 

117. On May 22, 2013, Dfaz•s attomey amt stair a letter sbdina that he no lonpr 

repreamted Diaz m this matter. 

118. On Juno 4, 2013, staff contacted Diaz directly and sent him the PlNRA Rule 8210 

letter that had pn,Yioualy been sent to bis attorney. 1be PINRA Rulo 8210 latter was sent to 

Diaz via email and, on Juno S, 2013, Diaz responded to statrs email. Staff provided Diaz until 

lune 1 o. 2013 to provide a response to the FIN.RA Rule 8210 letter. 

119. To date. Diaz has not responded to tho FINRA Rule 8210 Jetter and hu not 

reqaoated ID menai.OD. 

120. As a result of Diaz's nntirnely and incomplete naponsea and hia complete failure 

respond to Rulo 8210 requesta for documents and infmmatlon, F1NRA statrwu prevented from 

pmauiq material areas of its investigation into Diaz's conduct in this rnattar. 
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121. By mpgina in the fbzepiaa conduct, Diaz violated PlNRA Rules 2010 and 

8210. 
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Panel: 

Prayer for .Rellaf . 

WIIDEFORE, the Department of Market Regulation respectfully requeata that the 

A. mab findings of fact and concllllioDs of law that Respondmt Jaime Andres Diaz 

committed the violations cbarp4 and alleged heraiD; 

B. Older that ono or more of the SIIIICtions provided under FINRA Procedural Rule 

8310 be impoRed. Including that the B.esponcknt be required to disgorge tblly any 

and an ill-gotten pins mid/or make tbll restitution, together with .dltelest; 

C. make specifio findings that Respondent willfa11y 'Yiolatm Section lO(b) of the 

Securities Bxcbange Act and Rule lOb-5 promuJpted thereunder; 

D. order that Respondent bear such costs of any proceeding as are deemed fair and 

appropriate under the circamatances, in accordance with PJNRA Procedmal Rule 

8330;am:l 

B. grant all tbrther relil( legal or equitable, that is wmantec1 under the 

Dated: ~ov. ~,2013 PINRA Department of Market Replation 
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